

PRACTICING VISIONARY LEADERSHIP TOOLKIT

Toolkit 1 in the Utah Educational Leadership Toolkit Series

Prepared for Utah Leading through Effective, Actionable, and Dynamic (ULEAD) Education

April 2019

In this toolkit, Hanover Research and ULEAD explore strategies and resources that current and aspiring school principals can utilize to meet the criteria outlined in Standard 1: Visionary Leadership of Utah's Educational Leadership Standards.



IOVER e <u>a r c h</u>

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary	3
	3
Overview	4
AUDIENCE	4
Examine Existing Contexts	5
Leverage Available Data to Make Decisions	5
Identify District-Level Priorities to Ensure Alignment	6
Convene with Stakeholders to Clarify Additional Needs	8
Create a Shared Vision, Mission, and Goals	9
Consider One's Personal Vision and Goals	9
Know the Purpose of Vision, Mission, and Goal Statements	9
Draft Vision, Mission, and Goal Statements	12
Sustain Organizational Commitment	15
Communicate Clearly and Consistently	15
Monitor Implementation and Reassess	15

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

INTRODUCTION

This toolkit provides guidance and resources to support current and aspiring school principals in developing their personal capacity for leadership and meeting the criteria outlined in the Utah State Standards for Educational Leadership (located here). Specifically, this toolkit is designed to develop current and aspiring principals' skills and knowledge related to Strand 1: Visionary Leadership.

Utah's Educational Leadership Standard 1: Visionary Leadership



Strand 2: Teaching and Learning for Learning

Strand 3: Management

Strand 4: Community Engagement

Strand 5: Ethical Leadership Improvement

Strand 6:

School



Strand 7: Equity and Cultural Responsiveness

Effective educational leaders facilitate the development, articulation, implementation, and stewardship of a shared vision that promotes each student's academic success and well-being.

Standard 1.1: Collaborate with faculty, staff, parents, and the school community to develop and implement a shared vision, mission, and values.

Standard 1.2: Collect, analyze, and use data to identify goals, assess organizational effectiveness, and promote organizational learning.

Standard 1.3: Create and implement plans to achieve short- and long-term goals.

Standard 1.4: Develop a shared understanding of and commitment to mission, vision, and values within the school and community to promote continuous and sustainable improvement.

Standard 1.5: Monitor and evaluate progress and revise plans to achieve desired outcomes.

Source: Utah State Board of Education¹

Research shows that—aside from teachers—school principals are the most influential schoolbased factor in promoting student achievement.² Specifically, research finds that principals account for a guarter-on average-of their school's overall impacts on student achievement outcomes. Likewise, research observes that differences in student achievement up to 20 percentage points may occur when a school has an "above-average principal" rather than an "average principal."3

Effective principals are integral to their school's success.⁴ Research shows that effective principals positively impact the mission and vision of their schools and student and staff outcomes.⁵ In particular, effective principals are more likely to retain gualified and effective teachers, which helps drive student achievement.⁶ More broadly, research shows that "it takes multiple in-school factors coming together to significantly improve student achievement on a larger scale" and "that principals are in a unique position to bring those factors together."⁷ The impact of having an effective principal is greater in schools facing more challenges. Researchers find "no documented instances[...]where troubled schools are turned around if they do not have a talented leader."8

Indeed, it is accurately and "widely believed that a good principal is the key to a successful school" given the many roles they fill: instructional leader, staff evaluator, lead disciplinarian, overseer of daily operations, school representative to families and the community, and more.⁹ Principals are

integral to all aspects of their school's operations, from the quality of the teachers to the instructional strategies used with students to the overall school climate.¹⁰

As such, principals require an array of knowledge and skills to act as effective change agents, instructional leaders, and personnel managers.¹¹ This **Practicing Visionary Leadership Toolkit**—and the five accompanying toolkits in the *Utah Educational Leadership Toolkit Series*—support Utah's current and aspiring principals in meeting the demands of Utah's Educational Leadership Standards to successfully:¹²

- Shape a vision of academic success for all students, one based on high standards;
- Create a climate hospitable to education in order that safety, a cooperative spirit, and other foundations of fruitful interaction prevail;
- Cultivate leadership in others so that teachers and other adults assume their part in realizing the school vision;
- Improve instruction so teachers can teach at their best and students can learn at their utmost; and
- Manage people, data and processes to foster school improvement.

Why Utah's Schools Need Strong and Effective Principals

⁶⁶ Everyone remembers a teacher that inspired them. How many people remember their principals? Principals ensure that schools are open, that teachers are receiving the support they need, and that classrooms are environments that will help all students learn.

The strongest model for schools is one in which principals are creative, innovative instructional leaders. They find opportunities for teachers to lead. They support teachers in their growth and create a safe space for adults to take risks in their learning. As educators look at what builds a great school, they need to look at the principal. Who is at the helm? What vision have they set for their communities? How have they developed an environment that fosters learning and creativity?

Students need great teachers, and teachers need great leaders. One can't exist without the other. Principals bring in opportunities for their communities. They find resources where there weren't any before. They connect families. They find places for children to thrive both in and outside of the classroom.

Source: U.S. Department of Education¹³

OVERVIEW

This toolkit:

- Describes protocols principals may use to examine existing contexts within their school, district, and community to identify areas of strength and in need of development;
- Reviews strategies to foster collaboration between principals and stakeholders to establish a shared vision, mission, and goals to guide school operations; and
- Explores practices that build and sustain an organizational commitment to the values and goals outlined in the school vision and mission.

AUDIENCE

This toolkit is designed to support current and aspiring school principals across the state of Utah in meeting the criteria outlined in Utah's Educational Leadership Standards, particularly **Standard 1: Visionary Leadership.**

EXAMINE EXISTING CONTEXTS

LEVERAGE AVAILABLE DATA TO MAKE DECISIONS

It is essential that principals examine and analyze available data for their school and district to make the most impactful decisions about their building's operations.¹⁴ When principals "are knowledgeable about data use, they can more effectively review their existing capacities, identify weaknesses, and better chart plans for improvement."¹⁵ Consequently, principals—in conjunction with other school leaders and staff (e.g., assistant principals, department chairs)— must sift through the vast array of data available via modern data warehousing practices (e.g., attendance, behavior, academics) to determine where school resources should be directed.¹⁶ Furthermore, principals and their team should collect and analyze data longitudinally—preferably for the preceding three to five years, if available—to identify trends in performance that will ultimately shape the school vision, mission, and goals.¹⁷

Student Assessment Scores	Behavior and Discipline	Grades	Participation in Special Programming
Student and Staff Demographics	Classroom Observations	Stakeholder Survey Responses	Course Enrollment
Student Attendance	Budget Information	Program Evaluation	Professional Development

Data Categories Commonly Available to School Principals

Source: ACT and Scholar-Practitioner Quarterly¹⁸

Through data-based decision-making, principals can quantify and justify their decisions about instructional and administrative practices while also increasing transparency and building their personal credibility as school leaders.¹⁹ A principal's commitment to data-based decision-making can drive improvements in all aspects of the school culture, from academic instruction to family engagement to staff retention.²⁰ In addition, principals practicing data-based decision-making and action-planning serve as a model for their staff and students on how to identify and address areas of need.²¹

A Conceptual Framework for Principals' Data-Based Decision-Making



On the following page, the **Discussion Guide for Data Analysis and Data-Based Decision-Making** lists a series of questions—categorized by data type—that principals can use to conduct self-guided analysis of data and to lead larger discussions around data. With these questions and by engaging in the broader process of data-based decision-making, principals will develop an understanding of "key aspects of the school that might figure into a shared vision" and thereby build a firm foundation from which to launch further discussions about their school's vision, mission, and goals relative to district and community priorities.²³ Through this process, principals become equipped to define the purpose and objectives of their school building and instructional teams.²⁴

IDENTIFY DISTRICT-LEVEL PRIORITIES TO ENSURE ALIGNMENT

While principals have their own vision and objectives for how they intend to manage their building, **they must ensure that their work aligns with the priority areas and system-level goals outlined in their district's strategic plan**.²⁵ Successful execution of a district strategic plan requires collaboration and coordination between district administrators, school leaders, and all other personnel. As such, principals should outline a direction for their school that complements the district's broader goals.²⁶ Indeed, districts should be able to "develop and articulate both a vision and a set of practices that send a clear message of what schools are to be about," while school principals should act with "a broader range of autonomy to make decisions within the boundaries of a [district's] strategic framework."²⁷

To avoid divergence from the district strategic plan and sustain momentum for systemwide efforts, principals should examine any available strategic planning documentation and coordinate with district administrators to identify school-level priorities.²⁸ In addition, principals should work with district staff to ensure compliance with federal and state mandates and policy guidance, especially in regards to those educational elements they are exploring for inclusion in the school vision, mission, and goals.²⁹ By ensuring frequent and intimate collaboration with district-level personnel, school principals can:³⁰

- Articulate their school's unique needs, vision, mission, and goals in the context of the larger district strategic plan;
- Communicate solutions to address problems at their school, which may also apply in a similar context at other district campuses;
- Facilitate ongoing dialogue and coordination with district and community leaders; and
- Establish an environment of mutual understanding, respect, and ownership.

Coordinating School and District Vision, Mission, and Goals

Defining autonomy for principals is not a one-size-fits-all approach. Veteran principals in highachieving schools may confidently handle more autonomy or degrees of freedom, while novice principals or principals at struggling schools may need more guidance and direction from district administrators.

Defined autonomy for school leaders is probably best described as a balancing act, with districts being directive in some areas, such as establishing goals and expectations for achievement, setting a general course for continuous improvement, and defining high standards of performance for all personnel.

At the same time, effective district leaders recognize that some actions are best left up to principals, such as evaluating personnel based on district-approved criteria, developing or removing staff as necessary to meet performance standards, and developing cultures of high expectations within their own schools.

Source: American Association of School Administrators³¹



Discussion Guide for Data Analysis and Data-Based Decision-Making

<u>Directions</u>: Using the questions listed below, principals can examine key data points about students' academic performance, attendance, and behavior, as well as school operations and stakeholder perceptions, to determine areas of strength and development. By answering these questions, principals can acquire insight into what the school community cares about, what the school does well, and what the school needs to do better.

Academic Performance Data

- What data are available that indicate how well students are achieving the conceptual understandings and developing the target skills outlined in content-area standards?
- What data show which students meet or exceed expectations and which do not?
- What academic areas prove problematic for students? What are the characteristics of students struggling in these areas?
- What academic areas are strengths for students? What are the characteristics of students performing well in these areas?
- What trends are observable in student performance over time?
- Why are students performing in the ways that they are? What school-based or out-of-school factors may be impacting student performance?
- How are the school and district aligning resources to support students equitably?

Attendance and Behavioral Data

- What is the overall attendance rate of the school? What percentage of students are chronically absent?
- What are the reasons that students are absent from school?
- Do any student sub-groups have significantly better or worse attendance relative to peers?
- What are the rate and volume of disciplinary instances occurring at the school?
- Are disciplinary incidents more prevalent among certain student sub-populations?
- Are consequences for disciplinary instances consistent between offenders from different student sub-groups?

Operations Data

- What is the current enrollment of the school?
- How many students are enrolled in specialized academic programming (e.g., special education, English learner, gifted and talented)?
- What is the teacher-to-student ratio? How many support personnel does the school employ?
- What resources—financial and other—are available to the school?
- How frequently does the school communicate with families and community members? Using what mechanisms?

Perceptions Data

- How do school community members feel about the school and district?
- How satisfied are school community members with the school's educational programs?
- What do school community members perceive to be the strengths and needs of the school?
- What do school community members think about the skills of current students and graduates?

Source: Multiple³²

CONVENE WITH STAKEHOLDERS TO CLARIFY ADDITIONAL NEEDS

Principals should engage with and solicit feedback from community stakeholders to understand their priorities and goals for the school. For example, a principal should speak with their teachers to understand what curricular and instructional supports they require to be successful. They should also engage with students and their parents or guardians to determine what kinds of programming they prefer (e.g., extracurricular opportunities, specific academic experiences).³³ Principals should communicate with as many stakeholder groups as possible to determine what their particular "stakes" are in school operations.³⁴

INTERNAL STAKEHOLDERS		EXTERNAL STAKEHOLDERS	
GROUP	Stake	GROUP	Stake
Students	Personal success throughout school; future opportunities	Families	Student success; safety; pride in schools children attend
School and District Staff	Professional efficacy; job satisfaction	Taxpayers	Getting a good return on their tax investment in schools
School and District Leaders	Fulfilling mission; media coverage; accountability	Business Community	Ability to hire skilled graduates; economics
School Board	Fulfilling mission; media coverage; accountability	Community Members	Community pride; livability; real estate values

Key Stakeholder Groups and Their "Stake" in School and District Operations

Source: RMC Research Corporation and U.S. Department of Education³⁵

Because stakeholders have a vested interest in the success of their local school, principals must recognize that they also have a perspective on what the school's vision, mission, and goals should be and what actions should be taken to achieve them.³⁶ Furthermore, stakeholders—both internal and external—can provide context around the issues currently facing the school and the community, organizational, and human dynamics that drive those issues.³⁷ As such, principals should be strategic and methodical in the methods they use to solicit feedback from stakeholders, as well as the content and context of the communications around those methods.³⁸ This means that principals must use the right methods with the right stakeholder groups to acquire the kinds of feedback data they seek and that they should only collect feedback data if they intend to actively consider it in plotting their school's vision, mission, and goals.³⁹



Methods to Gather Qualitative Feedback from Stakeholders

Source: Vanderbilt University and The Denver Foundation's Inclusiveness Project⁴⁰

CREATE A SHARED VISION, MISSION, AND GOALS

CONSIDER ONE'S PERSONAL VISION AND GOALS

As a first step to establishing a shared vision, mission, and goals for their schools, **principals should** reflect on their own personal views about education, the values and experiences that guide their professional work with students, staff, families, and the community, and the beliefs that shape their personal character and goals.⁴¹ By considering their own personal and professional vision, mission, and goals, principals can establish a baseline understanding of what they seek to accomplish as a school leader and what they are willing to do to accomplish it.⁴² In addition, having a clear comprehension of their own vision, mission, and goals allows principals to serve as a model for their staff and, more importantly, to lead their staff effectively.⁴³



Source: Education Partnerships, Inc.⁴⁴

Research on educational leadership finds that effective principals help establish and sustain a commitment to rigorous learning standards, high expectations of students and staff, and accountability for student success.⁴⁵ As such, to be an effective leader, current and aspiring school principals must have tangible answers to the following questions:⁴⁶

- What should schools teach students? How should schools teach students?
- What are the attributes of a good school?
- What does it take to have a successful classroom?
- What are the attributes of an effective school leader?
- ✓ What are the attributes of an effective school staff member?
- ✓ What are the characteristics of a successful student, one that is college and career ready?

KNOW THE PURPOSE OF VISION, MISSION, AND GOAL STATEMENTS

In order to create shared vision, mission, and goal statements, principals and their collaborators must understand the distinctions and relationships between these items. A vision statement describes the perfectly ideal, or "dream," status of a school and its students' outcomes. In contrast,

LEARN MORE

- "Mission and Vision Statements" Mind Tools
- "Wallace Research to Practice Shaping a Vision of Academic Success" - National Association of Elementary School Principals
- "School Leadership: Setting Goals for School Improvement" – College of Education, University of Illinois at Chicago

a *mission statement* explains more concretely what a school intends to accomplish, its broad strateav for accomplishing it, and occasionally, why it wishes to accomplish something. Goal statements are precise descriptions of measurable objectives that a school seeks to achieve in order to fulfill its outlined vision and mission. All three items will inform daily operations and short- and longterm planning by school and district leaders.⁴⁷ Likewise, vision, mission, and goal statements should both direct and motivate school staff to complete the necessary actions to achieve school objectives.48

Distinguishing Between Vision and Mission Statements

A mission statement is a public declaration that schools or other educational organizations use to describe their founding purpose and major organizational commitments (i.e., what they do and why they do it). A mission statement may describe a school's day-to-day operational objectives, its instructional values, or its public commitments to its students and community.

A vision statement is a public declaration that schools or other educational organizations use to describe their high-level goals for the future—what they hope to achieve if they successfully fulfill their organizational purpose or mission. A vision statement may describe a school's loftiest ideals, its core organizational values, its long-term objectives, or what it hopes its students will learn or be capable of doing after graduating.

Generally speaking, a vision statement expresses a hoped-for future reality, while a mission statement declares the practical commitments and actions that a school believes are needed to achieve its vision. A vision statement describes the end goal (i.e., the change sought by a school), but a mission statement may describe a school's broad academic and operational assurances, as well as its commitment to its students and community.

Source: The Glossary of Education Reform | Great Schools Partnership⁴⁹

Indeed, outlining a vision and mission, as well as accompanying goals, builds a foundation from which schools serve students and collaborate with families, the larger district, and community members to achieve success.⁵⁰ By reading any of these statements, internal and external stakeholders should easily comprehend what a school's goals are and how it intends to achieve them.⁵¹ Consequently, the school vision should broadly appeal to the school community, aspire to a better future, and articulate the core values of the school.⁵² Comparatively, the school mission should be clear, concise, and informative. Principals should invite input from stakeholders in crafting the vision and mission and be open to altering both statements in response to stakeholder feedback and changing realities in the school and district community.⁵³

C	DIFFERENCE	VISION STATEMENT	Mission Statement		
	Detail	Outlines where a school wants to be; communicates both purpose and values	Talks about how a school will get to where it wants to be; defines purpose and objectives		
	Answer	Answers the question 'Where do we aim to be?'	Answers the questions 'What do we do?' and 'What makes us different?'		
	Time	Talks about the future	Talks about the present leading to the future		
I	Function	Lists where the school sees itself in future years; inspires and shapes direction	Lists the broad goals for which the school exists; defines key measures of success		

Differences Between Vision and Mission Statements

Source: The Open University, UK Aid Direct, and TESS India⁵⁴

Sample Vision and Mission Statements

VISION STATEMENT	Mission Statement		
Battlefield High School, Prince William County Public Schools, Virginia			
Every Battlefield High School student will achieve personal success and become a responsible and productive citizen.	At Battlefield High School, we believe that student learning is the chief priority and all students can learn to their fullest potential. Students will develop their individual talents, critical thinking, and technology skills by being actively engaged in the learning process. Continuous commitment to improvement ensures that our students are well-rounded, self-directed, lifelong learners. By maintaining a safe and optimum learning environment, we provide the opportunity for students to be successful. Promoting high standards and expectations, teachers, administrators, parents, and the community share the responsibility for advancing the school's mission.		
John T. Baker Middle School, Montgomery County Public Schools, Maryland			
Our vision, as a community, is to inspire a passion for learning.	John T. Baker Middle School seeks to be an exemplary learning community school. We build the foundation of this community through meaningful relationships, relevant and engaging learning, and effective communication. We challenge ourselves to be better than we think we can be and advocate for the greater good of our multidimensional community. Our success in this mission will build lifelong, confident learners, who have the tools necessary for success in a changing world.		
Potomac Senior High School, Prince William County Public Schools, Virginia			
All Potomac Senior High School students will achieve personal success in their learning and become responsible and productive citizens.	Our mission is to empower all students to apply their acquired skills and knowledge, to rely upon their personal attributes to lead productive lives, and to become contributing members of the global community.		

Source: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development⁵⁵

Concrete goals should accompany the vision and mission to both create urgency for stakeholders in working toward both statements and in plotting specific criteria that students, staff, families, and community members can aim to fulfill.⁵⁶ Likewise, goal statements outline more tangible strategies and action steps that a school community can use to meet target objectives.⁵⁷ Goal statements serve as an outline or plan that the school can follow to achieve its vision and mission.⁵⁸

In order to successfully drive school operations toward the vision and mission, goal statements should adhere to the S.M.A.R.T.+C criteria:⁵⁹

Specific: Goal statements should articulate a specific performance threshold (e.g., 10% of students) of what is to be achieved (e.g., what behavior of whom or what outcome) by when (e.g., by 2025)?

- **Measurable**: Goal statements articulate outcomes for which corresponding data can be collected, detected, or obtained.
- Achievable: Goal statements are feasible to achieve given available resources.
- **Relevant**: Goal statements correspond to the school mission and communicate a clear understanding of how they fit in with the overall vision and mission of the school.
- **Timed**: Goal statements have a timeline by which their target outcomes will be achieved.
- **Challenging**: Goal statements stretch the school community to aim for significant improvements that are important to stakeholders.

DRAFT VISION, MISSION, AND GOAL STATEMENTS

During the drafting process for a school's vision, mission, and goal statements, principals should emphasize two primary considerations. First, **these statements must describe what success looks like for the school in the present and the short- and long-term futures.**⁶⁰ Vision, mission, and goal statements also need to address the unique position of a school within all of the larger contexts it is part of: district, local community, state, and national.⁶¹

In writing such statements, school principals and any collaborating personnel must recognize that the tone and specificity of each statement are important. For example, a school's vision and mission statements should be written in a tone that reflects organizational values and appeals to stakeholders on an emotional level to inspire and sustain commitment.⁶² Comparatively, goal statements will be more tangible and logical by referring to specific and measurable results.⁶³



Source: The Open University, UK Aid Direct, and TESS India64

Second, **principals should involve stakeholders in exploratory discussions and the actual composition of the vision, mission, and goal statements.** While collaboration may require additional time, a principal who works with their staff, students, families, and other district personnel to develop these statements will foster the perception of a shared vision, mission, and goals. Indeed, vision, mission, and goal statements that result from collaboration will encompass a greater diversity of perspectives, drive wider organizational commitment, and promote shared ownership over school success.⁶⁵ Consensus will ultimately increase the chances of success and diminish the proliferation of resistance and challenges to executing action steps to achieve the school's stated vision, mission, and goals.⁶⁶

Principals should make sure that their school's vision, mission, and objectives are both "written for all" and "developed by all."⁶⁷ The issues that a school confronts on a daily basis affect multiple constituencies in different ways. Allowing for broader input from stakeholders "allows the

development of solutions that meet more peoples' needs more completely than decisions that are made" unilaterally by one or two school leaders.⁶⁸ Likewise, composing shared vision, mission, and goal statements helps clarify responsibilities, delegates power over change-driven action between the principal and other stakeholders, and strengthens the bonds of the school.⁶⁹

On the following page, the **Suggested Procedures to Develop Vision**, **Mission**, **and Goal Statements** lists a series of steps principals can use to guide their school's work around vision, mission, and goal statements. By following these steps, principals and their collaborating stakeholders can form statements driven by consensus and a refined awareness of the needs and perceptions of all constituencies.



Suggested Procedures to Develop Vision, Mission, and Goal Statements

<u>Directions</u>: Using the processes outlined below, principals can lead discussions with collaborating stakeholders around the composition of a school's vision, mission, and goal statements. These procedures can be repeated for each statement type and will guide principals and collaborating stakeholders through the entire writing process, from initial investigations and explorations to final composition of the target statement.

PROCESS STEP	DESCRIPTION
Consider One's Own Values and Beliefs	Principals should form a clear understanding of what they hope to achieve and what they hope their school will achieve during their tenure and beyond. Principals must identify their core beliefs, determine what actions and objectives they are willing and able to commit to, and find how their values overlap with school needs.
Form a Team of Stakeholder Leaders	Principals should thoughtfully consider which stakeholder groups should be involved in the process of developing vision, mission, and goal statements. After determining which stakeholder groups need to be heard, the principal should invite key leaders or chosen representatives of those groups to participate in a committee.
Review Organizational Values and Needs	Principals and the committee should examine available data to identify areas of strength and development for the school-at-large. At the same time, they should also conduct outreach to their fellow stakeholders to identify potential areas of focus and review district and state policies to ensure alignment.
Establish Consensus Values and Goals	Principals and the committee should debate which needs and potential focus areas to prioritize given the available data, school community perceptions, and contextual factors with which the school must contend. This process will involve compromise, as not every need or focus can be encapsulated in the vision, mission, or goals. It is important, however, to find ways to use this process to build a shared commitment to those areas that are prioritized.
Share Drafts with the School Community	After creating initial drafts of any statement, the principal and committee should share drafts more broadly with the school community. Specifically, they should facilitate dialogue or host public forums by which stakeholders can ask questions and provide feedback. This feedback should then inform revisions.
Commit and Communicate	At this stage, the principal and committee should make any final revisions to the vision, mission, or goal statements. They should then publicize the final statement and make concerted efforts to raise awareness and build commitment with all stakeholder constituencies.
Source: Multiple ⁷⁰	

SUSTAIN ORGANIZATIONAL COMMITMENT

COMMUNICATE CLEARLY AND CONSISTENTLY

No matter how well-composed or thought-out vision, mission, or goal statements are, they will have limited value and utility unless school stakeholders are aware of and committed to them.⁷¹ Consequently, **principals must work with other school and stakeholder leaders to promote awareness of the statements and attach clear value to them.** Principals need the ability to take vision, mission, and goal statements from merely being "words on a page" to core principles that "embody the actions of every stakeholder who belongs to the [school] learning community."⁷²

To drive such movement, principals will need to work with others to find creative ways to give life to vision, mission, and goal statements. Principals should work to develop a larger narrative of hope and excitement around their school's work in their efforts to build stakeholder buy-in.⁷³ This means that principals themselves should "model [their] school's beliefs, values, and collective commitments while demonstrating enthusiasm for what will come next."⁷⁴



Source: Community Tool Box | University of Kansas⁷⁸

Principals and their collaborators can communicate their school's vision, mission, and goal statements using a variety of techniques, many of which reflect general best practices for staff, family, and community engagement. For example, a principal may designate select personnelsuch as the individuals involved in drafting the statements—to serve as ambassadors to those constituencies with which they have the greatest influence.⁷⁵ Similarly, principals may leverage school-focused social media accounts or a school-hosted blog to publish content directly related to the school's vision or mission or about progress related to a specific goal.⁷⁶ Perhaps most importantly, principals should align all of their actions and communications with the values outlined in the school vision, mission, and aoals.⁷⁷

MONITOR IMPLEMENTATION AND REASSESS

Principals are the main overseers of their school's work toward attaining the outlined vision, mission, and goals. As such, **principals must monitor stakeholder actions to ensure that they improve school outcomes and correspond with the school's established vision, mission, and target goals.**⁷⁹ In particular, principals should direct stakeholder actions around the vision, mission, and goals to prevent complacency and ensure continued commitment on the part of stakeholders.⁸⁰

While vision and mission statements may not have linked performance measures, principals can track activities and progress using formal and informal mechanisms (e.g., process analysis and observation, outcomes measurement).⁸¹ Similarly, principals can leverage data related to specified performance outcomes for each school goal statement to gauge progress and identify areas of ongoing need.⁸² Such performance thresholds serve as benchmarks that principals can use to determine whether to intensify actions in specific areas or to divert resources elsewhere.⁸³

Depending on the results of the ongoing implementation monitoring, **principals may need to revisit the school vision, mission, or goals**, especially as state and district policies change, student needs evolve, or stakeholders prioritize new areas of concern.⁸⁴ Should a principal—in concert with other key school leaders—determine the need to update the school's vision, mission, or goals, they should once again complete the steps used to create the original statements (e.g., considering personal values, convening a working group) so that the school's vision, mission, and goals remain aligned to stakeholder priorities and drive meaningful work by staff and the larger school community.⁸⁵

On the following page, the **Progress Monitoring Checklist for Vision, Mission, and Goal Attainment** lists several evaluative criteria that principals can use to guide progress monitoring to ensure consistent and ongoing alignment of school stakeholders' work with the school's vision, mission, and goal statements. By considering these criteria, principals will remain aware of how their school's daily activities (e.g., governance, operations, instructional programming, volunteer work) reflect the broader values that the school community strives toward.⁸⁶



Progress Monitoring Checklist for Vision, Mission, and Goal Attainment

<u>Directions</u>: Using the checklist below, principals can monitor their school's activities related to attaining the outlined vision, mission, and goals. This checklist is meant to guide principals and their collaborators in asking important questions about school activities and ensuring alignment between those activities and what the school community intends to accomplish.

EVALUATION CRITERIA	YES	No
Are school activities adhering to the parameters and values set forth in the school's vision, mission, and goal statements?		
Are school activities having an observable effect on stakeholder (e.g., students, staff, families) outcomes?		
Is the school on-track to achieve outlined goals based on available data?		
If the school is not on-track to achieve outlined goals, did you underestimate the challenges involved in making progress on a particular issue?		
If the school is not on-track to achieve outlined goals, have staff and resources been allocated correctly to address a particular issue?		
If the school is not on-track to achieve outlined goals, were certain initiatives deprioritized in favor of unexpected and more immediate concerns?		
Are any internal organizational changes impacting the school's ability to achieve the outcomes of its vision, mission, and goal statements?		
Are any <u>external</u> community changes impacting the school's ability to achieve the outcomes of its vision, mission, and goal statements?		
Are target outcomes realistically achievable given current levels of progress?		

Notes:

Source: The Bridgespan Group and DIY Committee Guide | Developing Governance Group⁸⁷

⁶ [1] Beteille, T., D. Kalogrides, and S. Loeb. "Effective Schools: Managing the Recruitment, Development, and Retention of High-Quality Teachers." National Center for Analysis of Longitudinal Data in Education Research, American Institutes for Research, December 2009. p. 2. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED509688.pdf [2] Grissom, J.A. and B. Bartanen. "Strategic Retention: Principal Effectiveness and Teacher Turnover in Multiple-Measure Teacher Evaluation Systems:" *American Educational Research Journal*, 56:2, September 26, 2018. p. 514. Accessed via SAGE Journals. [3] Shelton, S. "Preparing a Pipeline of Effective Principals: A Legislative Approach." National Conference of State Legislatures, 2012. p.

1. http://www.ncsl.org/documents/educ/PreparingaPipelineofEffectivePrincipalsFINAL.pdf

⁷ Krasnoff, B. "Leadership Qualities of Effective Principals." Northwest Comprehensive Center, Education Northwest, 2015. pp. 1–2. https://nwcc.educationnorthwest.org/sites/default/files/research-brief-leadership-qualities-effectiveprincipals.pdf

⁸ [1] "Leadership Matters: What the Research Says About the Importance of Principal Leadership." National Association of Secondary School Principals and National Association of Elementary School Principals, 2013. p. 3.

⁹ [1] Branch, G.F. "School Leaders Matter." *Education Next*, 13:1, Winter 2013. https://www.educationnext.org/schoolleaders-matter/ [2] Meador, D. "The Role of the Principal in Schools." ThoughtCo, January 14, 2019. https://www.thoughtco.com/role-of-principal-in-schools-3194583

¹⁰ Rowland, C. "Principal Professional Development: New Opportunities for a Renewed State Focus." American Institutes for Research, February 9, 2017. https://www.air.org/resource/principal-professional-development-new-opportunities-renewed-state-focus

¹¹ Williamson, R. "The Importance of the School Principal." Education Partnerships, Inc., January 9, 2011. pp. 4–7. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED538828.pdf

¹² Bulleted text quoted verbatim, with minor adaptations, from: [1] "The School Principal as Leader: Guiding Schools to Better Teaching and Learning." The Wallace Foundation, 2013. pp. 4, 6. https://www.wallacefoundation.org/knowledgecenter/Documents/The-School-Principal-as-Leader-Guiding-Schools-to-Better-Teaching-and-Learning-2nd-Ed.pdf [2] "Leadership Matters: What the Research Says About the Importance of Principal Leadership," Op. cit., pp 3-4.

¹³ Figure text quoted verbatim, with minor adaptations, from: Perez-Katz, A. "The Power of Principals: Why They Are So Important to Building Great Schools." U.S. Department of Education, October 27, 2015. https://blog.ed.gov/2015/10/thepower-of-principals-why-they-are-so-important-to-building-great-schools/

¹⁴ Mertler, C.A. "Data-Driven Classroom: Introduction to Data-Driven Educational Decision Making." Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development, August 2014.

http://www.ascd.org/publications/books/sf114082/chapters/Introduction_to_Data-

Driven_Educational_Decision_Making.aspx

¹⁵ Balow, C. "Six Steps for School Leaders to Use Data Effectively." Illuminate Education, June 8, 2017.

https://www.illuminateed.com/blog/2017/06/six-steps-school-leaders-use-data-effectively/

¹⁶ Roy, P. "Principals Model Data Analysis to Make Decisions." The Learning Principal, October 2005. p. 3.

https://learningforward.org/docs/the-learning-principal/lp10-05roy.pdf?sfvrsn=2

¹⁷ [1] Richardson, J. and D. Mero. "Making the Mathematics Curriculum Count: A Guide for Middle and High School Principals-Chapter 3, Analyzing Data for Schoolwide and Individual Student I-mprovement." National Association of Secondary School Principals, 2007. p. 35.

https://www.principalsmonth.org/igx_temp/nassp_leading_success/Mod_2_Act_5_reading_mathCurriculumCount_p35-55.pdf [2] "What Are Longitudinal Data?" National Longitudinal Surveys | U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics.

https://www.nlsinfo.org/content/getting-started/what-are-longitudinal-data

¹⁸ [1] Moore, R. and T. Shaw. "Principals' Use of Data: An Executive Summary." ACT, 2017. p. 4.

http://www.act.org/content/dam/act/unsecured/documents/R1660-principals-use-of-data-2017-12.pdf [2] Polnick, B. and S.L. Edmonson. "Expanding Data Analysis Skills in Educational Leaders:" *Scholar-Practicioner Quarterly*, 3:1, 2005. p. 45. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ796136.pdf

¹⁹ "The Importance of Data-Based Decision Making." Corwin. pp. 5–6. https://us.corwin.com/sites/default/files/upmbinaries/25562_1204_Goldring___Ch_1_excerpt.pdf

²⁰ Fenton, B. and M. Murphy. "New Leaders for New Schools: Data-Driven Instruction." Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development. http://www.ascd.org/ascd-express/vol5/508-fenton.aspx

²¹ "The Importance of Data-Based Decision Making," Op. cit., p. 15.

¹ Figure text quoted verbatim, with minor adaptations, from: "Utah State Standards for Educational Leadership." Utah State Board of Education, May 2018. pp. 1–5. https://www.schools.utah.gov/file/b9dc81f1-75ba-4a30-87e1-a0e23008b644

² Gates, S.M. "A Principal Role in Education." RAND Corporation, November 26, 2014.

https://www.rand.org/blog/2014/11/a-principal-role-in-education.html

³ Ikemoto, G., L. Taliaferro, and E. Adams. "Playmakers: How Great Principals Build and Lead Great Teams of Teachers."

New Leaders, November 2012. p. 5. https://newleaders.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Playmakers.pdf

⁴ "Effective Principals = School and District Success." WestEd. https://www.wested.org/effective-principals-school-districtsuccess/

⁵ Matlach, L. "Supporting and Retaining Effective Principals." Center on Great Teachers and Leaders, American Institutes for Research, May 2012. p. 1. https://gtlcenter.org/sites/default/files/Snapshot_Retaining_Effective_Principals.pdf

https://www.naesp.org/sites/default/files/LeadershipMatters.pdf [2] Shelton, Op. cit., p. 1.

²² Figure text quoted verbatim, with minor adaptations, from: Marsh, J.A., J.F. Pane, and L.S. Hamilton. "Making Sense of Data-Driven Decision Making in Education: Evidence from RAND Research." RAND Corporation, 2006. p. 3. https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/occasional_papers/2006/RAND_OP170.pdf

```
<sup>23</sup> [1] "Holding a Shared Vision Steady." Michigan Department of Education. p. 2.
```

https://www.michigan.gov/documents/mde/2-1_383730_7.pdf [2] Gabriel, J.G. and P.C. Farmer. "How to Help Your School Thrive Without Breaking the Bank: Developing a Vision and a Mission." Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development, February 2009. http://www.ascd.org/publications/books/107042/chapters/developing-a-vision-and-amission.aspx

²⁴ "Using Data to Improve Schools: What's Working." American Association of School Administrators. p. 5.

http://www.aasa.org/uploadedFiles/Policy_and_Advocacy/files/UsingDataToImproveSchools.pdf

²⁵ "Creating the Future: Strategic Planning for Schools." ECRA Group, 2015. p. 12. https://ecragroup.com/wpcontent/uploads/dlm_uploads/2016/07/Strategic-Planning-White-Paper.pdf

²⁶ Billingham, J. "Strategic Planning in Education – 3 Keys to Success." Thoughtexchange, May 27, 2012.

https://www.thoughtexchange.com/strategic-planning-in-education-3-keys-to-success/ ²⁷ Bottoms, G. and J. Schmidt-Davis. "The Three Essentials: Improving Schools Requires District Vision, District and State

Support, and Principal Leadership." Southern Regional Education Board. pp. iii-iv.

https://www.wallacefoundation.org/knowledge-center/Documents/Three-Essentials-to-Improving-Schools.pdf ²⁸ Billingham, Op. cit.

²⁹ Shannon, G.S. and P. Bylsma. "Characteristics of Improved School Districts: Themes from Research." Office of

Superintendent for Public Instruction, State of Washington, October 2004. p. 49.

http://www.k12.wa.us/research/pubdocs/districtimprovementreport.pdf

³⁰ Bulleted test adapted from: Bottoms and Schmidt-Davis, Op. cit., p. 40.

³¹ Figure text quoted verbatim, with minor adaptations, from: Eck, J. and B. Goodwin. "Autonomy for School Leaders." American Association of School Administrators. http://www.aasa.org/SchoolAdministratorArticle.aspx?id=11110 ³² Discussion Guide for Data Analysis and Data-Based Decision-Making adapted from: [1] "Guide to Using Data in School Improvement Efforts: A Compilation of Knowledge from Data Retreats and Data Use at Learning Point Associates." Learning Point Associates, December 2004. pp. 10-14.

http://wyde.state.wy.us/schoolimprovement/documents/auidebook.pdf [2] "Guiding Questions for Data Analysis, by Reports." Wake County Public School System, April 2015. pp. 2–17. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED565247.pdf [3] "Data Analysis Model and Process: Guiding Questions." Arizona Department of Education, January 25, 2012.

https://cms.azed.gov/home/GetDocumentFile?id=59c2f18b3217e10dac1f3069 [4] "Forum Guide to Collecting and Using Attendance Data." National Center for Education Statistics, U.S. Department of Education, January 2018. pp. 2, 4-7. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2017/NFES2017007.pdf [5] Rodwell, P. "18 Essential Behavior Data Analysis Questions."

Kickboard. https://www.kickboardforschools.com/blog/post/18-essential-behavior-data-analysis-questions [6] Danielson, C. "Enhancing Student Achievement: School Organization." Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development,

November 2002. http://www.ascd.org/publications/books/102109/chapters/School-Organization.aspx ³³ Kenny, G. "6 Steps to Make Your Strategic Plan Really Strategic." Harvard Business Review, August 7, 2018.

https://hbr.org/2018/08/6-steps-to-make-your-strategic-plan-really-strategic

³⁴ "Engaging Stakeholders, Including Parents and the Community to Sustain Improved Reading Outcomes." RMC Research Corporation and U.S. Department of Education, September 2009. p. 4.

https://www2.ed.gov/programs/readingfirst/support/stakeholderlores.pdf

³⁵ Figure adapted from: Ibid., pp. 4–5.

³⁶ "Stakeholder Engagement for Strategic Planning." Everett Community College.

http://www.everettcc.edu/ccec/enewsletters/stakeholder-engagement-strategic-planning/

³⁷ Boyden, J. and W. Waldman. "Strategic Planning for Nonprofit and Non-Government Organizations." Huamin Research Center, Rutgers University, and China Philanthropy Research Institute, Beijing Normal University, September 2012, pp. 3-4. https://socialwork.rutgers.edu/sites/default/files/brochure_4.pdf

³⁸ "A Deeper Dive into Methods for Stakeholder Listen: Sample Questions for Stakeholders." Washington Nonprofit Institute.pp. 1–2. https://www.wanonprofitinstitute.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Chapter2-LISTEN-Stakeholder-Engagement-Toolkit-13_14.pdf

³⁹ [1] "Moving Toward Equity Stakeholder Engagement Guide: Planning for Engagement with Stakeholders in Designing Educator Equity Plans." Center on Great Teachers and Leaders, American Institutes for Research, December 2014. pp. 15-16. https://gtlcenter.org/sites/default/files/GTL_Moving_Toward_Equity.pdf [2] "Types of Qualitative Data." Center for Innovation in Research and Teaching, Grand Canyon University.

https://cirt.gcu.edu/research/developmentresources/research_ready/qualitative/data [3] "Tips for Gathering Feedback Data for Administrator Evaluation." School ADvance, 2012. p. 1.

http://www.goschooladvance.org/sites/default/files/SA%20Tips%20for%20gathering%20feedback-9-14_1.pdf ⁴⁰ Figure adapted from: [1] "Choosing Assessment Methods." Vanderbilt University.

http://virg.vanderbilt.edu/assessmentplans/Methods/Home.aspx [2] "Module 6: Information Gathering, Part 2:

Stakeholder Perceptions." The Denver Foundation's Inclusiveness Project. pp. 55–56.

http://www.nonprofitinclusiveness.org/files/Module%206.pdf

⁴¹ Williamson, R. "The New School Year: An Opportunity to Commit to a Shared Vision." Education Partnerships, Inc., September 2009. p. 1. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED538409.pdf

⁴² [1] "13 Ways You Can Craft A Strong Personal Mission Statement." Forbes, November 7, 2017. https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbescoachescouncil/2017/11/07/13-ways-you-can-craft-a-strong-personal-mission-

statement/ [2] "Principles of Management: Developing Your Personal Mission and Vision." University of Minnesota, 2010. https://open.lib.umn.edu/principlesmanagement/chapter/4-8-developing-your-personal-mission-and-vision/

⁴³ "Goal Setting and Personal Mission Statement." Army Reserve Officers' Training Corps, University of Akron. pp. 96, 99. https://www.uakron.edu/armyrotc/ms1/13.pdf

⁴⁴ Figure text quoted verbatim, with minor adaptations, from: Williamson, "The New School Year: An Opportunity to Commit to a Shared Vision," Op. cit., pp. 1–2.

⁴⁵ "The School Principal as Leader: Guiding Schools to Better Teaching and Learning," Op. cit., p. 7.

⁴⁶ Bulleted text adapted from: "Exercise for Identifying Core Beliefs." School Improvement in Maryland | Maryland State Department of Education. http://mdk12.msde.maryland.gov/process/leading/core_beliefs.html

⁴⁷ Nagy, J. and S.B. Fawcett. "An Overview of Strategic Planning or 'VMOSA' (Vision, Mission, Objectives, Strategies, and Action Plans)." Community Tool Box | University of Kansas. https://ctb.ku.edu/en/table-of-contents/structure/strategic-planning/vmosa/main

⁴⁸ Jackson, T. "How to Write a Vision Statement (and Why That Isn't Enough)." ClearPoint Strategy.

https://www.clearpointstrategy.com/how-to-write-a-vision-statement-why-that-isnt-enough/

⁴⁹ Figure text quoted verbatim, with minor adaptations, from: "Mission and Vision." The Glossary of Education Reform | Great Schools Partnership, May 18, 2015. https://www.edglossary.org/mission-and-vision/

⁵⁰ Culbertson (Boyle), C.J. "Business Planning: How to Craft Your Vision and Mission Statement." Forbes, June 28, 2018. https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbescoachescouncil/2018/06/28/business-planning-how-to-craft-your-vision-and-missionstatement/

⁵¹ Hofstrand, D. "Vision and Mission Statements -- A Roadmap of Where You Want to Go and How to Get There." Iowa State University. https://www.extension.iastate.edu/agdm/wholefarm/html/c5-09.html

 ⁵² "Perspective on Leadership: Building a Shared Vision for Your School." The Open University, UK Aid Direct, and TESS
India. p. 5. http://www.open.edu/openlearncreate/pluginfile.php/135939/mod_resource/content/4/SL11_AIE_Final.pdf
⁵³ Ibrisevic, I. "How to Write an Awesome Nonprofit Mission Statement." Donorbox, November 16, 2017. https://donorbox.org/nonprofit-blog/nonprofit-mission-statement/

⁵⁴ Figure text quoted verbatim, with minor adaptations, from: "Perspective on Leadership: Building a Shared Vision for Your School," Op. cit., p. 10.

⁵⁵ Figure text quoted verbatim, with minor adaptations, from: Gabriel and Farmer, Op. cit.

⁵⁶ "Setting Goals for Accountability." The Education Trust. https://edtrust.org/students-cant-wait/setting-goalsaccountability/

⁵⁷ Candler, L. "Goal Setting 101." Education World. https://www.educationworld.com/a_curr/profdev/profdev151.shtml ⁵⁸ Gabriel and Farmer, Op. cit.

⁵⁹ Bulleted text adapted from: Nagy, J. and S.B. Fawcett. "Creating Objectives." Community Tool Box | University of Kansas. https://ctb.ku.edu/en/table-of-contents/structure/strategic-planning/create-objectives/main ⁶⁰ Jackson, Op. cit.

⁶¹ "Perspective on Leadership: Building a Shared Vision for Your School," Op. cit., pp. 5–6.

⁶² Horwath, R. "Discovering Purpose: Developing Mission, Vision, and Values." Strategic Thinking Institute, 2005. pp. 3–4, 9. https://www.strategyskills.com/Articles/Documents/Discovering_Purpose-STI.pdf

⁶³ Nagy and Fawcett, "Creating Objectives," Op. cit.

⁶⁴ Figure adapted from: "Perspective on Leadership: Building a Shared Vision for Your School," Op. cit., p. 6.

⁶⁵ Morgan, N. "11 Steps to Creating A Shared Vision for Your Team." Ellevate.

https://www.ellevatenetwork.com/articles/7542-11-steps-to-creating-a-shared-vision-for-your-team

⁶⁶ Nagy, J. and S.B. Fawcett. "Proclaiming Your Dream: Developing Vision and Mission Statements." Community Tool Box | University of Kansas. https://ctb.ku.edu/en/table-of-contents/structure/strategic-planning/vision-missionstatements/main

⁶⁷ Tomlin, D. "Developing a School Vision: What Utensils Do You Use?" Association for Middle Level Education, April 2017. https://www.amle.org/BrowsebyTopic/WhatsNew/WNDet/Tabld/270/ArtMID/888/ArticleID/808/Developing-a-School-Vision-What-Utensils-Do-You-Use.aspx

⁶⁸ Burgess, H. and B. Spangler. "Consensus Building." Beyond Intractability Project | University of Colorado, September 2003. https://www.beyondintractability.org/essay/consensus_building

⁴⁹ [1] Hoerr, T.R. "Principal Connection: The Lure of Consensus." Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development, October 2010. http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/oct10/vol68/num02/The-Lure-of-

Consensus.aspx [2] Cooper, K.B. "Building the 'We.'" Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development, February 2015. http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/feb15/vol72/num05/Building-the-

%E2%80%9CWe%E2%80%9D.aspx [3] Berkowicz, J. and A. Myers. "How Do Leaders Use Compromise and Consensus?" Education Week, January 23, 2018.

http://blogs.edweek.org/edweek/leadership_360/2018/01/how_do_leaders_use_compromise_and_consensus.html?cmp =SOC-SHR-FB

⁷⁰ Suggested Procedures to Develop Vision, Mission, and Goal Statements adapted from: [1] Williamson, "The New School Year: An Opportunity to Commit to a Shared Vision," Op. cit., pp. 1–4. [2] Gabriel and Farmer, Op. cit. [3] Morgan, Op. cit.

⁷¹ Jackson, Op. cit.

⁷² Owens, B. "Do You Know Your School's Vision? Tips on Making a Meaningful Mission Statement." Education Week, November 21, 2017. https://www.edweek.org/tm/articles/2017/11/22/do-you-know-your-schools-vision-tips.html

⁷³ Morgan, Op. cit.

⁷⁴ Gabriel and Farmer, Op. cit.

⁷⁵ [1] "Stakeholder Communication: Tips from the States." National Center for Education Statistics, U.S. Department of Education, May 2011. p. 1. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/slds/pdf/best_practices.pdf [2] Weber, S. "5 Communication Tips for Educators." Association of Christian Schools International. p. 1.

https://www.acsi.org/Documents/Rocky%20Mountain/RM%20Office/5%20Communication%20Tips%20for%20Educators.pdf

⁷⁶ [1] "11 Ways to Improve School Communications and Community Engagement." The Glossary of Education Reform | Great Schools Partnership. https://www.edglossary.org/school-communications/ [2] Gunn, J. "School Leaders: Best Tips for Improving Effective Communication." Concordia University-Portland, June 12, 2018. https://education.cuportland.edu/blog/curriculum-teaching-strategies/effective-school-communication/

⁷⁷ Weber, Op. cit., p. 3.

⁷⁸ Figure adapted from: Nagy and Fawcett, "Proclaiming Your Dream: Developing Vision and Mission Statements," Op. cit.

⁷⁹ "Perspective on Leadership: Building a Shared Vision for Your School," Op. cit.

⁸⁰ Nagy and Fawcett, "Proclaiming Your Dream: Developing Vision and Mission Statements," Op. cit.

⁸¹ "Phase VII: Steps for Implementing, Promoting and Monitoring the Plan." Colorado Local Public Health and

Environment Resources. https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/cdphe-lpha/phase-vii-steps-implementing-promoting-and-monitoring-plan

⁸² "Monitor and Revise Strategic Plan." Minnesota Department of Health.

https://www.health.state.mn.us/communities/practice/assessplan/lph/org/monitor-update.html

⁸³ "The School Improvement Process." The Education Trust. https://edtrust.org/students-cant-wait/school-improvementprocess/

⁸⁴ "Perspective on Leadership: Building a Shared Vision for Your School," Op. cit., p. 11.

⁸⁵ "Four Stages of Strategic Planning." National Child Welfare Resource Center for Organizational Improvement, US Department of Health and Human Services.

https://muskie.usm.maine.edu/helpkids/pubstext/Four%20Stages%20Strategic%20Planning.pdf

⁸⁶ Mollenhauer, L. "Strategic Planning Toolkit." Canadian Mental Health Association and Ontario Federation of Mental Health and Addiction Programs. p. 23. http://ontario.cmha.ca/wp-

content/files/2013/01/Basic_Strategic_Planning_Toolkit.pdf

⁸⁷ Progress Monitoring Checklist for Vision, Mission, and Goal Attainment adapted from: [1] Hadley, J., L. Lanzerotti, and A. Nathan. "Living Into Your Strategic Plan: A Guide to Implementation That Gets Results." The Bridgespan Group, June 2011. p. 17. https://www.bridgespan.org/bridgespan/Images/articles/living-into-your-strategic-

plan/LivingIntoYourStrategicPlan_FINAL.pdf?ext=.pdf [2] "Strategic Plan Step 6: Monitor and Review." DIY Committee Guide | Developing Governance Group. https://www.diycommitteeguide.org/download/strategic-plan-step-6-monitorand-review